UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 04-61212-CIV-LENARD/KLEIN

" HOLLYWOOD COMMUNITY _
SYNAGOGUE, INC. and UNITED : )

STATES, ' : | FILED by / D.C.
Plaintiff, MAY 10 2006

VS,

CLARENCE MADDOX
CLERK U.S. DIST. CT,
5.0, OF FLA.- MIAMI

CITY OF 'HOLLYWOOD, FLORIDA
and SAL OLIVERI, individually,

Defendants.
/

Case No. 05-60687-CIV-LENARD/KLEIN
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff
VS.
CITY OF HOLLYWOOD,

Defendant.
- /

OMNIBUS ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART
DEFENDANT CITY OF HOLLYWOOD’S MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND
AMENDED COMPLAINT (D.E. 140) AND DENYING DEFENDANT CITY OF

HOLLYWOOD’S MOTION TO DISMISS (D.E. 225)

THIS CAUSE is before the Court on Defendant City of Hollywood’s Motion to

Dismiss and/or Strike Second Amended Complaint (“Motion to Dismiss Second Amended



Complaint,” D.E. 140), filed January 5, 2006, and Motion to Dismiss (“Motion to Disﬁiss

Plaintiff United States’ Complaint,” D.E. 225), filed May 28, 2005. On January 20, 2006,

. Plaintiff Hollywood Community Synagogue filed a Response to the Motion to Dismiss

Second Amended Complaint. (“Hollywood Synagogue’s Response,” D.E. 144.) OnJ anuafy |

30, 2006, Defendant City of HoIlyWood filed a Reply. (“Reply to Hollywood Synagogue’s

Response,” DE 145.) On June 3, 2005, Plaintiff United States filed a Response to
 Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss its Complaint. (“United States’ Respo_risej’ D.E. 226.) On .

- June. .__.1_5., 2005, Defendant. City .of Hollywood. filed .a. Reply. .(“Reply to.United.States> ..
Response,” D.E. 227.) | |

L Factual and Procedural Background _

On Septerﬁber ~15,- 2064, Plaintiff Hollywood Community Synagogue (hereinafter
“HCS”) filed a Complaint égainst Defendants City of Hollywood and Sal Oliveri (Case No.
04-61212-CIV-LENARD, D.E. 14), alleging violatiohs of numerous rights and statutes,
including the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act of 2000, 42 U.S.C. §
2000cc et seq. (hereinafter “RLUIPA.”). On Ap‘ril 26, 2005, Plaintiff United States of
America filed a Complaint against Defendant City of Hollywood (Case No. 05-60687-CI'V-
LENARD, D.E. 1), requesting declaratory and injunctive relief based upon Defendant’s
alleged violation of RLUIPA. On June 16, 2005, the Court issued an Orde;r consolidating
the_s¢ cases and administratively closing the higher numbered case (Case No. 04-61212-CIV-

LENARD, D.E. 75; Case No. 05-60687-CIV-LENARD, D.E. 14), finding they involved
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common questions of law and fact, including substantially the same factual scénario, same
defendants, and same attorneys. .

On December 2, 2005, Plaintiff HCS was granted leave to file a Second Amended
Complaint. (D.E. 124.) This Second Amended Complaint (DE 125) qontains 19 counts and’
. is the operative Complaint for purposes of City of Hollywood’s Motion to Dismiss Second

Amended Complaint. The legal claims and facts which follow are taken from the Second
Amended Complaint in the Consqlidated case, unless otherwise specified. Plaintiff HCS is
a Synagogue, with its principal place of business at 2215-2221 N. 46th Avenue, Hollywood,
Florida ‘33021. (D.E. 125 at 1 6.) Defendant City of Hollywood is a city municipality
empowered by the Stafe of Florida to regulate the use of land and structures within the City’s
borders, consistent with law. (Id. at 1[7.') Defendant Sal Oliveri is a City Commissioner for
the City of Hollywood, representing the area of Hollywood Hills. (Id. at §8.)

\ In 1999, Yosef Elul, then-President of the Synagogue, purchased two residences,
located at 2215 and 2221 N. 46fh Avenue, Hollywood. (Id. at 15.) In the neighborhoéd of
single family residences in which the land was purohas'ed, a place of worship could only
operate if granted a Special Exception. (Id.at{19.) After tﬁe purchase of the land by Yosef
Elul, the Director of Planning for the City of Hollywood -advised the Synagogue that it
needed to apply for ‘a House of Worship Special Exce_:ption but assured Synagogue

| representatives that such Special Exception would be granted. (Id. at Y 19-20.)

In May of 2001, Alan Razla, on behalf of Mr. Elul, applied for a House of Worship
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Special Exception. (Id.at§21.) The Board of Appeal and Adjustments (hereinafter “BAA”)
granted a six anth Special Exception. (Id.) Four months later, in September of 2001,
- Commissioner Oliveri filed an appeal to the City Commission of the BAA’s grant of the
Special Exception.' (Id. at 22.) The Commission heard the appeal and subsequently granted
the Sslnagogue a one year Special Exception, which included certain conditions as to limited
parking and persons. (Id.) Plaintiff United States notes that, upon information and belief,
Defendant had never previously imposed a time limit on a special exception for a religious
use, and had only once imposed a time limit on a special exception for a nonreligious use.
" (Case No. 05-60687-CIV-LENARD, D.E. 1 at § 20.)
In late 2001 and 2002, according to Plaintiff HCS’s Second Amended Complaint,
Defendant Oliveri began regularly contacting the City’s code enforcement and/or bolice
departments, in order to enlist their services to issué citations and harass the Synagogue and
its members. (D.E. 125 at'§24.) Oliveri allegedly told code enforcement and police officers
that “careful and vigilant monitoring” of the Synagogue’s properties was required, instructed
them fo check the Synagogue’s property daily for 'che violations, and told thém to only give
~ tickets to cér's parked on the Synagogue’s property. (Id. at Y 25-27.) The Synagogue’s
Administrafor, George Albo, witnessed the Code Enforcement and/or Hollywood Police
Officers ticketing only those cars parked on the Synagogue’s side of the street. (Id.at¥75.).

When Albo inquired as to why only the cars belonging to the Synagogue were being ticketed,

! Plaintiff HCS does not seek liability in this action against Oliveri for his appeal to the Commission from the decision
of the BAA, (Id. at§22.)
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the officer stated that he was following directions which came from Oliveri. (Id.) Also, a
Code Enforcement Officer told Albo that the department was under orders from
. Commissioner Sal Oliveri and the Mayor to keep an eye on the Chabad [the Synagogue] and
to enforce the code. (Id. at ] 76.) The Code Enforcement Officer further stated that she “paid
| special attention” to the Synagogue. (Id.) In addition, City éornmissioner Cathy Anderson
allegedly became aware of Defendant Oliveri’s use of city personnel to cénstantly check on
the Synagogue and publicly scolded Commissioner Olivefi, staﬁng, “what we have here is
selective enforcement and I’'m very troubled by it.” (Id. at §77.)

In September of .200;2, the Development Review Board (hereinafter “DRB,” formerly
known as the BAA) granted Arthur Eckstein, on behalf of the Synagogue, a six month
Temporary Special Exception subject to certain enumerated conditions. (Id. at §30.) Atthe
September 2062 hearing, the DRB found that, subject to the enumerated conditions, the use
of the property as a House of Worship was compatible With the existing natural environment
and ofher prdperties within the vicinity 2 (Id. at 31(A).) Aﬂér the DRB hearing, Defendant
Sal Qlivefi filed an appeal to the Cornmi{ssion.3 (Id. at § 32.) In October 2002, the
Commission denied Oliveri’s appeal and allowed HCS the six month Temporary Special

Exception. (Id. at § 33.)

2 The DRB found that use of the property as & House of Worship was compatible with the existing natural environment
and other properties within the vicinity once the Applicant: (1) prohibited parking of any type in the alley located behind the
Synagogue; (2) entered 2 lease agreement for off-site parking, (3) obtained garbage dumpsters in a size and style acceptable to
City staff, (4) entered into a property maintenance agreement with a property maintenance provider who would maintain the
premises in accordance with the city code, and (5) created an appropriate buffer along the rear side of the property. (D.E. 125 at
130.) '

® Plaintiff FICS does not seek liability in this action against Oliveri for his appeal. (Id. at § 30.)
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In March of 2003, the DRB granted the Synagogue a Perménent Special Exception
subj e-ct to certain enumerated conditions being met within 180 days. (Id. at §33.) Defendant
. Sal Oliveri filed another appeal.* (1d. alt 9 38.) Only 53 days after the Permanent Special

Exception was granted, and after considerable debate, on June 5, 2003, the Commission
reversed the earlier decision made by the DRB. (Id. at 39.)' The Commission determined
that the Synagogue was “too controxlersial,” despite the cht that “controversiality” was not
| an enumerated factor in the City Codeto be evaluated when considering a Special Exceptiori.
(l_d_. at 7 41, 44.) Plaintiff states that contrary to Commission procedure, Defendant Sal
Oliveri was permitted to vote on his own appeal and cast the deciding vote (4-3)° against the
Synagogue.’ (Id. at | 40.) Defendant Oliveri stated, “it’s almost common serlse and
reasonable that the Chabad [the Synagl)gue] will never fit in Hollywood Hills.” (Id.atq41.)
Plaintiff United States notes that, upbn information and belief, Defendant had never
previously denied a request by a place of worship to operate in ether a éingle-family or
multiple-family residential zone. (Casé No. 05-60687-CIV-LENARD, D.E. 1 at § 28.)
On October l6, 2003, Defendant sent HCS a letter notlfying the congregation that it
was to cease holding services and other related activities at its current location within one

week. (Id. at 30.) Thereafter, Defendant Oliveri openly campaigned against the Synagogue

4 Plaintiff HCS does not seek liability in this action against Oliveri for his appeal. (Id. at{38.)

3 Plaintiff United States’ Complaint contains a discrepancy in that it alleges that the Commission voted 5-2 to reverse
the DRB’s decision and deny HCS’s petition for a third Special Exception, (Case No. 05-60687-CIV-LENARD, D.E. 1 at 27.)

® Plaintiff HCS does not seek liability in this action against Oliveri for his vote in the Commission meeting. (ld. at §
40.)
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_in his 2004 campaign for City Commissioner of Hollywood Hills. (D.E. 125 at §45.) Oliveri

claimed the Synagogue negatively impacted the residential neighborhood, but did not

. substantiate his statements with any facts. (Id.) AtaJuly 2004 Commission meeting, Oliveri

asked the Commission “to evict” the Synagogue and allegedly stated in support thereof, “I
would just like to ask the Commission and I beg for their support for the sake of the
neighborhoods here... We're talking about neighborhoods here. We’re talking about
neighborhoods having a smell.”” (Id. at ] 47.) During a July 7, 2004 City Commission

meeting, the Commission voted to direct the City Attorney to file a lawsuit to stop further

organized religious services from taking place at HCS, despite the fact that this item was not

on the agenda and no notice had been provided to HCS or the public that such a vote would
take place. (Case No. 05-60687-CIV-LENARD, D.E. 1 at32.) On or about July 16, 2004,
the City filed suit against the Synagogue, in Broward County Circuit Court, Case No. 04-
11444 t21), seeking a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief against the Synagogue fqr
operating as a House of Worship without a Special Exemption. (D.E. 125 at § 57.)
Plaintiff HCS asserts that there are presently at least nineteen houses of worship
.located in Hollywood Hills residential neigh’;)orhoods: Hollywood Hillé Alliance Church,
Temple Sinai of Hollywood, First United Church of Christ, Hollywood Hills Church of

Christ, St. George Greek Orthodox Church, Church of Jesus Christ of Hollywood Hills, Saint

7 Defendant Oliveri subsequently stated that his comment was an effort to compare his efforts to protect his single
family neighborhood with the City of Hollywood’s efforts to protect the Hollywood Lakes section from a smelly waste treatment
facility, (Am. Compl.; Ex. H.)
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Andrews Presbyterian Chufch & Korean Mission, Temple Solel, Church of the Latter Day
Saints, Hollywood Hills Méthodist Church, Harvest-Time Apostolic Church, Apostolic
. Christian Church Nazarean, Young Israel, Westside Pentecostal Church, St. Mark’s Lutheran
Church, Advent Christian Cathedral, Faith Deliverance Cathedral, Hollywood Florida
Congregation of Jehovah’s Witness East Unit, and United Church of God. (Id. at  48.)
Plaintiff HCS notes that both of the Jewish houses of worship listed above hav.e been in’
éxistence for approximately 20 years and were granted Special Exceptions by previous
1nembef$ of the Hollywood Commission, none of whom are still members of the current
: Commiésion. (Id. atn.3.) One non-Jewish house of worship is located only 0.5 miles from
the Synagogue. (Id.) In addition, some of the above-listed houses of Worship are also, similar
to HCS, operated out of single family homes. (Id.)

Plaintiff HCS also points out that a _resident, Rosa Lopez, located blocks away from
" the Synagogue, has for more than a decade operated a shrine to th'e Virgin Mary. (I_d_ atq51.)
She takes donations from visitors, operates a commercial gift shop, and hosts as many as
4,000 people at one time. (Id.) The City of Hollywood has received numerous complaints
regarding th¢ traffic, noise and garbage associated with the residénce and activities of Ms.
Lopez, but the City has not interfered with the operation of this shrine. (I_(i. atqf 52-53.) Ms.
Lopez has not requested a SpecialvException. (Id. at 953.) When Defendan;c Sal Oliveri was
asked by the Synagogue why Ms. Lopéz was not required to obtain a Special Exception, he

allegedly replied, “it’s a miracle to true believers and the venue cannot be changed since the
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Virgin Mary visits that particular homel.. If you people know anything about the Catholic
religion, that’s called a vision. To Christians and Catholics, that is considered a miracle.
. That’s not establishing a héuse of worship. Thatisa mifacle.” (1d. at [ 54.)

Plaintiff HCS further asserts that one non-Jewish house of worship operated for
approximately thirteen years without having applied for, or being approved for, a Special
Exception. (Id. at § 49.) It was not until after the Synagogue inquired about unequal
treatment that this house of worship applied for and was immediately granted a Special
Exception. Id.)

Plaintiff HCS alleges that Defendants have made no showing that perceived issues of
“noise,” “garbaée,” or “traffic” were any greater for the Synagogué than that posed by other
houses of worship operating in the City. (Id. at  55.) HCS conteﬁds that the actions of the
City, in utilizing the Commission to reverse the DRB’s grant of a permanent Spécial
Exception, were arbitrary, capricious and unreasonable. (Id. at § 56.)

Piaintiff HCS alleges the folloWing 18 Counts against the City in its Second Amended
Complaint: 1) damages for violation of the Synagogue’s right to free exercise of religion; 2)
injunctive relief for vio_lation of the Synagogue’s right‘to free exercise of religion; 3)
darpgges for violation of RLUIPA (42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(a)(1) - substantial burden); 4)
injuncti{/e relief for violation of RLUIPA (42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(a)(1) - substantial burden);
5) damages for violation of ARLUI'PA (42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(b)(1) - unequal terms); 6)

injunctive relief for violation of RLUIPA (42 U.S.C. § ZOOch(b)(l) - unequal terms); 7)



d‘amagés for violation of RLUIPA (42 U.S.C. § 2000cc(b)(2) - discrimination); 8) injunctive
relief for violation of RLUIPA (42 U.S..C. § 2000cc(b)(2) - discrimination); 9) damages for
. violation of the Florida Religious Freedom Restoration Act of 1998 (Florida RFRA); 10)
injunctive relief for violation of-the Florida RFRA; 11) damages for violation of the Equal
Protection Clause; 12) injunctive relief for violation of the Equal‘Protection Clause; 13)
damages for violation of the Substantivle Due Process Clause ofthe Fourteenth Amendment;
14) injunctive relief for violation of the Substantive Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment; 15) promissory estoppel; 16) facial équal protection challenge to Article V of
the City of Hollywood Code of Ordinances; 17) as applied equal protection challenge to
Article V of ;che.City of Hollywood Code of Ordinances; and 18) preliminary injunctive
| relief. (D.E. 125 at 4 60-151.) Plaintiff United States’ Complaint vcontain'sAsubstantially
similar facts to Plaintiff HCS ’s Second Amended Complaint and requests that the Court grant
" injunctive and declaratory relief against Defendant for violations of RLUIPA, 42 US.C. §
2000cc(b)(1)-(2), based on treatment of HCS on less than equal terms with nonreligious
assemblies and discrimination against HCS on the basis of religion or religious
‘denomination. (Case No. 05-60687-CIV-LENARD, D.E. 1 at 6.)

IL. Defendant’s Motion to Disxhiss United States’ Complaint

In its Motion to Dismiss (D.E. 225), Defendant City of Hollywood moves thé Court
for entry of an Order dismissing Plaintiff United States” Complaint for failure to state a cause

of action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). (Id. at 1.) Therein, Defendant -

-10-



argues that Plaintiff United States asserts numerous legal conclusions unsupported by fact.
(Id.) F irst,-Defendant maintains that Plaintiff’s Complaint allegesAreligiOus discrimination
.'but never connects HCS’s religidn with any actions taken by or on behalf of the City. (Id. at
2.) Seconci, Defendant contends that while Plaintiff's Complaint alleges that HCS was
treated on unequal terms with non-religious assemblies, there are no allegations that other
religious or non-religious assemblies were treated on terms more favorable than HCS. (1d.)
. Moreover, Defendant claims that Plaintiff has failed to name any specific religious or non-
religious institution other than HCS, and has further failed to allege that the other institutions
were similarly situated. (Id.) Third, Defendant argues that, Plaintiff has failed to allege that
HCS was subjeét to a substantial burden on its religious exercise. (Id. at 4.) Defendant
maintains that the absence '6f allegations regarding any substantial burden, any similarly
situated institutions, or any discriminatory enforcement of the City’s zorﬁng code is fatal to
a claim for reliefunder RLUIPA. (Id, at 5.)

In its Response (D.E. 226), Plaintiff United States first argues that the jurisdictional
test of RLUIPA Section (a)(2) does not apply to Section (b) claims. (Id. at 2.) The
Government maintains that it is thus not required, as a matter of law, to allege that Defendant
imposed a substantial burden on HCS's religious exercise, and that the Eleventh Circuit
supports this interpretation. (Id. at 2-3.) To hold otherwise, contends Plaintiff, would be
inconsistent with Congress’s intention that RLUIPA proyide broad protection of religious

exercise and judicial interpretations holding that RLUIPA codifies free-exercise
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jurisprudence prohibiting intentional feligious discrimination. (Id. at 4.) Moreover,' the
Government argues that numerous factors support an interpretation that Sections (a) and (b)
. are independent of one another. (Id. at 4-5.)

Second, Plaintiff United States contests Defendant’s assertion that the Government
failed to allege that any other similarly situated assembly or institution was treated more
favorably than HCS. (Id. at 5-6.) Instea‘d,. the Government argues that it put the City of
Hollywood on notice of the range of uses to be considered “similarly situated” for RLUIPA
purposes when it defined HCS as an assembly or institutio.n.located in a residential district
that regularly hosted more than 10 individuals for religious services. (Id. at 6.) Plaintiff alsé
notes that it specifically contrasted Defendant’s treatment of HCS with its treatment of other
religious and nonreligious assemblies permitted to operate in residential districts without
being subject to any City enforcement actions. (Id.) The United States maintains that this is
sufficient to state a claim under RLUIPA for Rule 12(b)(6) .p'urposes. (Id. at 6-7.)

Third, the United States asserts that it sufficiently alleged facts establishing that
Defendant discriminated against HCS on the basis of religion. (Id. at 7.) The Govemmént |
maintains that it identified HCS as a religious institution, described how the City‘ of
Hollywood denied it a Special Exception and sought to prevent religious worship there, and
demonstrated that the City’s actions constituted religious discrimination. (Id. at 7-8.)
Moreover, the United States points out that its Complaint identifies the City’s

implementafion of a time limit on HCS’s Special Exception and the City’s ultimate denial |
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of a permanent Special Exception as the first such measures ever imposed on o religious
institution by the City. (Id. at 8.) Finally, the Government maintaino that it specifically
. alleged that Defendant’s actions against HCS were motivated by HCS’s religion or religious
denomination. (Id. at 9.) |

Inits Reply, (D.E. 227), Defendant City of Hollywood maintains that Plaintiff United
States’ cursory allegations, even if true, do not support Plaintiff’s cause of action. (Id. at 2.)
Defendant reiterates that Plaintiff’s failure to namo specific non-religious assemblies treateo
on better than equal terms than HCS pfoves fatal to Plaintiff’s claim. (Lti) Defendant
contends that Plaintiff fails to detail any enforcement actions taken against HCS which could
be said to be based upon HCS’s religion or religious denomination. (Id.) Finally, Defendant
argues that the Court should not follow the Ele.venth Circuit’s interpretation of RLUIPA
Section (b) as independent from the jurisdictional requirements of Section (a), but should
instead hold that Sections (b)(1) and (b)(2) are subsets to the general rule and thus require
the showing of a substantial burden upon relfgious exercise. (Id. at 3.) |

III.  Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint.‘

Inits Motioo to Dismiss tﬁe Second Amended Complaint (D.E. 140), Defendant City
of Hollywood argues, first, that Plaintiff Hollywood Community Synagogue lacks standing
to assert a claim for compensatory damages pursuant to § 1983. (Id. at 6.) DefendvantA
maintains that Plaintiff lacks associational standing to bring a claim on behalf of its members

because an action for damages requires the participation of the association’s members. (Id.
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